WEST VIRGINIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES GRIEVANCE BOARD
SAMUEL GUY HILL,



GRIEVANT,

v.







    Docket No. 2014-0139-MerED

MERCER COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION,



RESPONDENT.

DECISION


Grievant, Samuel Hill, is regularly employed by Respondent, the Mercer County Board of Education (“Board”), as a School Bus Operator.  In the summer months, he works as a Groundsman. Mr. Hill filed a level one grievance form dated August 13, 2013, stating, “Grievant contends that he is entitled to mileage compensation for use of his personal vehicle to one of the two sites which he worked [as a Groundsman] in the summer of 2013. In previous summers, he had been provided with a vehicle to travel to the various work sites. Grievant alleges a violation of W. Va. Code 18A-4-8(r) & 18A-2-14.”
  As relief, “Grievant seeks compensation for mileage on the days in the summer in 2013, when he reported to Bluefield High School, with interest.”


A level one hearing was held and a decision was issued denying the grievance on September 16, 2013.  Grievant appealed to level two and a mediation was held on November 12, 2013.  On a form dated November 25, 2013, Grievant appealed to level three.  A level three hearing was conducted in Beckley, West Virginia on February 24, 2014.  Grievant personally appeared and was represented by John E. Roush, Esquire, West Virginia School Service Personnel, and Respondent was represented by Kermit J. Moore, Esquire. The parties submitted Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law which were received by the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board on March 24, 2014. This matter became mature for decision on that date.

Synopsis


Grievant claims entitlement for reimbursement mileage he incurred in traveling to a summer job.  Grievant was required to report to two work sites but only one on any particular day.  Grievant’s travel to each work site was no more than standard commuting time which is not compensable under Respondent’s mileage reimbursement policy.  The grievance is DENIED.

The following facts are found to be proven by a preponderance of the evidence based upon an examination of the entire record developed in this matter.  

Findings of Fact


1.
Grievant, Samuel Hill, is regularly employed by Respondent, Mercer County Board of Education, as a Bus Operator. 

2.
For approximately ten summers, prior to the summer of 2013, Grievant also worked for the Board as a Groundsman. In those positions, Grievant’s duties included: traveling to various school locations where he mowed grass, cut brush, and performed other duties consistent with that classification.

3.
During those summers Grievant reported to the maintenance lot adjacent to Pikeview High School at the beginning of each day. From that point Grievant traveled to various school worksites throughout the day using a truck provided by the Board for transportation.  Grievant returned to the maintenance lot at the end of each day.

4.
During the summer of 2012, Grievant worked on a crew consisting of three Groundsmen.  They traveled from site to site in a truck which pulled a trailer to haul a brush hog.  The crew worked together at each site.


5.
For the summer of 2013, Grievant applied for and received a job posted as follows:

Summer Groundsman – Maintenance Department (1 position[s]) Date: June 14, 2013 through the last Friday prior to the beginning of the 2013-2014 school year.

Respondent’s Exhibit 1.


6.
Grievant reported to work at the maintenance lot on June 14, 2013.  He was told that the truck he had used last summer was in the shop for repairs and would not be available for use.  Grievant was assigned to work at only two work sites, Pikeview High School and Bluefield High School.  Grievant was to report to one of these schools each day, report his location to the maintenance supervisor by phone, work the entire day at that site, and then go home.  He was required to use his own vehicle to get to and from work each day. The equipment to perform his duties was available at each work site.

7.
The maintenance lot was adjacent to Pikeview High School, but Grievant was not required to report to the maintenance lot after the first day.  

8.
Grievant lives in the Oakvale area of Mercer County. On days that he reported to Pikeview High School, he drove directly to that school. On days that he worked at Bluefield High School, Grievant drove directly there from his home on a route that did not pass Pikeview High School or the maintenance lot.

9.
Grievant claims that his daily work site was the maintenance lot, and that he traveled from that point to work at either Pikeview High School or Bluefield High School each day. It is twenty-three miles from the maintenance lot to Bluefield High School. At the end of the summer job, Grievant requested to be reimbursed for forty-six miles of travel expenses for each day that he drove to Bluefield High School.  Grievant did not request travel expenses for Pikeview High School because it is adjacent to the maintenance lot.  Grievant traveled to Bluefield High School on nineteen days and claimed a total of 874 miles. At 55.5 cents per mile, Grievant seeks $485.07 from the Board.


10.
Grievant was not required to report to the maintenance lot during his summer assignment. His primary work site each day was either Bluefield High School or Pikeview High School. Grievant was never required to travel to another location from his primary work site during the summer of 2013.

Discussion


As this grievance does not involve a disciplinary matter, Grievant bears the burden of proving the grievance by a preponderance of the evidence.  Procedural Rules of the W. Va. Public Employees Grievance Bd. 156 C.S.R. 1 § 3 (2008); Howell v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 89‑DHS‑72 (Nov. 29, 1990).  The preponderance standard generally requires proof that a reasonable person would accept as sufficient that a contested fact is more likely true than not.  Leichliter v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 92‑HHR‑486 (May 17, 1993). See also Jackson v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 215 W. Va. 634, 640, 600 S.E.2d 346, 352 (2004) (holding that,  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1“[t]he generally accepted meaning of ‘preponderance of the evidence’ is 'more likely than not.'”).

Grievant starts with the proposition that he was entitled to a single beginning work site for his Groundsman job in the summer of 2013.  Grievant states that this is the normal state of affairs for service personnel, and cites as authority for this proposition the first provision of the form contract established in West Virginia Code § 18A-2-5 which states:

(1) The Employee is employed by the Board as a (Job Classification) at (Place of Assignment) for the school year or remaining part thereof commencing _____________, 19_____. The period of employment is _______ days at an annual salary of $_______ at the rate of $________ per month.

(Emphasis added) Id. Grievant points to the parenthetical “(Place of Assignment)” and notes that it is not plural.  He infers from this that a service employee may not be assigned to more than one “place of assignment.”  Grievant notes that West Virginia Code § 18A-4-8(r) allows county boards of education to hire itinerant personnel in the aide and autism mentor classifications, as an exception to the “one work site” norm.  Obviously, the Groundsman position held by Grievant in the summer of 2013 was not in either of these classifications.  Finally, Grievant notes that West Virginia Code § 18A-2-14 requires that, “A county board shall reimburse any school personnel for each mile traveled when the employee is required to use a personal motor vehicle in the course of employment.” Id. Grievant concludes that he should be reimbursed for his travel from the maintenance lot to Bluefield High School because he was required to utilize his personal vehicle in the course of his employment for traveling from his alleged assigned work site to that work location.

Grievant’s entire argument is based upon the proposition that he may be only assigned to one work site.  That proposition must fail.  It is hardly compelling that a parenthetical phrase used to instruct someone how to fill in a blank on a form contract creates a mandatory duty for a board to assign a person to a single work site.  More importantly, the Grievance Board has consistently determined that some flexibility exists in the definition of ‘same assignment’ as that term is used in West Virginia Code § 18-5-39 relating to the filling of summer positions by service personnel.  It is enough that there is consistency in the type of work being performed, even if the location and exact nature of the work is somewhat different. By way of example, bus operators’ positions remain the same even though the routes change from summer to summer, school lunch programs at different schools are part of one overall summer lunch program, and a summer transportation program employing aides remain the same program even though the routes change from summer to summer. Lilly v. Fayette County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 96-10-481 (Sept. 15, 1997); Lilly v. Fayette County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 99-10-43[3] (Mar. 17, 2000); Williams v. Kanawha County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 0[1]-20-058 (May 10, 2001); Costello v. Monongalia County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 01-30-016 (June 21, 2001).” Eisentrout v. Preston County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 2010-0022-PreED (April 16, 2010); Cowan, et al. v. Ritchie County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 2010-1537-CONS (Jan. 20, 2012). This interpretation has allowed employees like Grievant to retain summer jobs that they previously held, even if the location changes as long as the type of work remains consistent.


In the present case, the position remained a Groundsman job. However, the worksite was changed from the maintenance lot to two specific high schools. Grievant was informed of this change on the first day he reported to work. He was specifically told that he would work at Pikeview High School and Bluefield High School and that he would need to use his own vehicle to get to and from his work.  This was a significant change from prior years when Grievant would report first to the maintenance lot, then travel to various sites throughout the day.  Grievant understood this change as evidenced by the fact that on days he worked at Bluefield High School, he drove directly to the school from his home and did not first report to the maintenance lot.  Additionally, had the maintenance lot not been adjacent to Pikeview High School, Grievant would not have been to that location at all after his first day of summer employment in 2013.

The Mercer County Board of Education has a travel policy numbered G-12.  The policy specifically states:

Reimbursement for travel expenses for commuting purposes is not permitted except where the employee has completed his normal working day and is required to return to a location other than his headquarters.

Respondent’s Exhibit 2.  

During his summer employment Grievant drove directly to his work, worked a full day and drove directly home. Accordingly, all of Grievant’s travel was commuting time between his home and his work, and not subject to reimbursement under the policy.  The Grievance Board has held in two previous decisions that school service employees holding two half-time jobs are not entitled to travel expenses for travel between the two jobs.  The reason for these holdings is that the grievants’ travel was not connected to the performance of their jobs.  Rather the travel was a commute to get to the work site.  See Workman v. Lincoln County Board of Education, Docket No. 95-22-36 (Mar. 18, 1996); and Jamison v. Monongalia County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 06-30-408 (Mar. 30, 2007).  The same is true in this case.  Grievant’s travel to Bluefield High School is not a required duty of his job.  Rather, it is merely his commute to the work site where his duties began.    

The board’s policy and the Grievance Board’s prior decisions related to mileage reimbursement are consistent with the Grievance Board’s prior rulings related to travel time under the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”).  As to compensation for travel time, the relevant portion of the FLSA provides that compensable time does not include time spent “walking, riding, or traveling to or from the actual place of performance of the principal activity or activities which such employee is employed to perform.” 29 U.S.C. 254(a). In addition, 29 C.F.R. § 785.35 specifically states that:

[a]n employee who travels from home before his regular workday and returns to his home at the end of the workday is engaged in ordinary home to work travel which is a normal incident of employment. This is true whether he works at a fixed location or at different job sites.

“Generally, an employee is not at work until he or she reaches the work site. Dillon v. Northern States Power Co., 22 Wage & Hour Cas. (BNA) 1187 (Fifth Cir. 1976).” Coulter, et al. v. Dep’t of Transportation/Div. of Highways. Docket No. 06-DOH-356 (Aug. 8, 2007).  29 C.F.R. § 785.35 is particularly relevant in this case because Grievant reported to two different locations to perform his duties. However, consistent with this section, his time driving to either of the sites is commuting time and therefore not subject to reimbursement.


Finally, Grievant argues that the Board violated West Virginia Code § 18A-4-8(m), by having him report directly to work sites in 2013, when, in prior summers, he reported to the maintenance lot and drove a Board owned vehicle to the various work sites. This provision states the following:

Without his or her written consent, a service person may not be:

     (2) Relegated to any condition of employment which would result in a reduction of his or her salary, rate of pay, compensation or benefits earned during the current fiscal year; or for which he or she would qualify by continuing in the same job position and classification held during that fiscal year and subsequent years.

Id. Grievant opines that the loss of the use of the County’s vehicle and traveling to the summer work sites relegates Grievant to a condition of employment that results in a financial loss in violation of the statutory provision. However, as stated above, the Board is entitled to some flexibility in the makeup of summer positions from year-to-year. In prior years, Grievant was required to visit several worksites in a single day. Under those circumstances it was reasonable and necessary for the Board to provide Grievant and others on the crew with a vehicle to travel to the various locations and transport their tools. However in 2013, Grievant was no longer required to go to more than one location in a single day, so all his travel time was commuting to and from work. Thus, the nature of the position changed not the compensation that was paid to Grievant. Consequently, West Virginia Code § 18A-4-8(m) was not violated. Accordingly, the grievance is DENIED.
Conclusions of Law

1.
As this grievance does not involve a disciplinary matter, Grievant bears the burden of proving the grievance by a preponderance of the evidence.  Procedural Rules of the W. Va. Public Employees Grievance Bd. 156 C.S.R. 1 § 3 (2008); Howell v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 89‑DHS‑72 (Nov. 29, 1990).  

2.
Flexibility exists in the definition of ‘same assignment’ as that term is used in West Virginia Code § 18-5-39 relating to the filling of summer positions by service personnel.  It is enough that there is consistency in the type of work being performed, even if the location and exact nature of the work is somewhat different. Lilly v. Fayette County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 96-10-481 (Sept. 15, 1997); Lilly v. Fayette County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 99-10-43[3] (Mar. 17, 2000); Williams v. Kanawha County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 0[1]-20-058 (May 10, 2001); Costello v. Monongalia County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 01-30-016 (June 21, 2001).” Eisentrout v. Preston County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 2010-0022-PreED (April 16, 2010); Cowan, et al. v. Ritchie County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 2010-1537-CONS (Jan. 20, 2012).

3.
Compensation for travel time does not include time spent “walking, riding, or traveling to or from the actual place of performance of the principal activity or activities which such employee is employed to perform.” FLSA 29 U.S.C. 254(a). In addition, 29 C.F.R. § 785.35 specifically states that:

[a]n employee who travels from home before his regular workday and returns to his home at the end of the workday is engaged in ordinary home to work travel which is a normal incident of employment. This is true whether he works at a fixed location or at different job sites.


4.
“Generally, an employee is not at work until he or she reaches the work site. Dillon v. Northern States Power Co., 22 Wage & Hour Cas. (BNA) 1187 (Fifth Cir. 1976).” Coulter, et al. v. Dep’t of Transportation/Div. of Highways. Docket No. 06-DOH-356 (Aug. 8, 2007).



5.
Grievant did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to reimbursement for travel expenses when he drove his personal vehicle to Bluefield High School during the summer of 2013.


6.
Because the position of Groundsman that Grievant performed in the summer of 2013 was significantly different than the position in prior years, Respondent did not violate W. Va. Code § 18A-4-8(m) by requiring Grievant to drive his personal vehicle to his worksite. 

Accordingly, the grievance is DENIED.

Any party may appeal this Decision to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County.  Any such appeal must be filed within thirty (30) days of receipt of this Decision.  See W. Va. Code § 6C-2-5.  Neither the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board nor any of its Administrative Law Judges is a party to such appeal and should not be so named.  However, the appealing party is required by W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(b) to serve a copy of the appeal petition upon the Grievance Board.  The Civil Action number should be included so that the certified record can be properly filed with the circuit court.  See also 156 C.S.R. 1 § 6.20 (2008).
DATED: APRIL 10, 2014




​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​__________________________









WILLIAM B. MCGINLEY









ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE
� This is the amended statement of grievance found on the level three grievance form and prepared by Grievant’s attorney.


� This is the request for relief from Grievant’s level three grievance form.
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